
Please Contact: Sarah Baxter 01270 686462
E-Mail: sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies or request for 

further information Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk to 
arrange to speak at the meeting

 

Northern Planning Committee
Agenda

Date: Wednesday, 1st September, 2021
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: The Balcony Suite, Glasshouse, Alderley Park, Congleton 

Road, Nether Alderley, Macclesfield, SK10 4TF

PLEASE NOTE – This meeting is open to the public and anyone attending this 
meeting will need to wear a face covering upon entering and leaving the venue. This 
may only be removed when seated. 

The importance of undertaking a lateral flow test in advance of attending any 
committee meeting.  Lateral Flow Testing: Towards the end of May, test kits were sent to 
all Members; the purpose being to ensure that Members had a ready supply of kits to 
facilitate self-testing prior to formal face to face meetings.  Anyone attending is asked to 
undertake a lateral flow test on the day of any meeting before embarking upon the journey 
to the venue. Please note that it can take up to 30 minutes for the true result to show on a 
lateral flow test. If your test shows a positive result, then you must not attend the meeting, 
and must follow the advice which can be found here: 
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/coronavirus/
testing-for-covid-19.aspx

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1.  Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2.  Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination  

Public Document Pack

mailto:gaynor.hawthornthwaite@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/coronavirus/testing-for-covid-19.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/coronavirus/testing-for-covid-19.aspx


To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests and for Members to declare if they have a 
pre-determination in respect of any item on the agenda.

3.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 4)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 4 August 2021 as a correct record.

4.  Public Speaking  

A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following:

 Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee
 The relevant Town/Parish Council

A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following individuals/groups:

 Members who are not members of the planning committee and are not the 
Ward Member

 Objectors
 Supporters
 Applicants

5.  20/1970M-Full planning application for residential development (Use Class 
C3) with associated infrastructure, landscaping and access, Walled Garden 
and Kitchen Garden, Alderley Park, Congleton Road Nether Alderley for 
Jones Homes (North West) Limited and Alderley Park Limited  (Pages 5 - 30)

To consider the above application.

6.  20/5021M-Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of a single 
replacement dwelling and a detached infill dwelling with associated works, 
Beechwood, 6, Moss Road, Alderley Edge for Mr & Mrs Robinson  (Pages 31 
- 46)

To consider the above application.

Membership:  Councillors L Braithwaite (Vice-Chair), T Dean, JP Findlow, A Harewood, S Holland, 
D Jefferay, J Nicholas (Chair), I Macfarlane, N Mannion, K Parkinson, L Smetham and J Smith



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Northern Planning Committee
held on Wednesday, 4th August, 2021 at The Capesthorne Room - Town 

Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA

PRESENT

Councillor J Nicholas (Chair)
Councillor L Braithwaite (Vice-Chair)

Councillors T Dean, JP Findlow, A Harewood, S Holland, D Jefferay, 
I Macfarlane, N Mannion, K Parkinson, L Smetham and J Smith

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE

Mr N Jones (Principal Development Officer), Mr R Law (Planning Team 
Leader) and Mrs M Withington (Acting Team Manager-Property Team)

23 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION 

In the interest of openness in respect of application 21/0349M, Councillor 
D Jefferay declared that he lived approximately 300m from the site and 
that he knew a number of residents who lived on the road, however he had 
not discussed the application or pre-determined it.

25 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2021 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

26 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

RESOLVED

That the public speaking procedure be noted.

27 21/0349M-SUB-DIVISION OF EXISTING SINGLE DWELLING TO 
CREATE FOUR DWELLINGS, BROOK LANE CHAPEL, BROOK LANE, 
ALDERLEY EDGE FOR TIPLER AND DAVIES 

Consideration was given to the above application.

Public Document PackPage 3 Agenda Item 3



(Councillor C Browne, the Ward Councillor, Parish Councillor M Dudley-
Jones, representing Alderley Edge Parish Council, Kiki Tsoulouhopoulos, 
an objector and James Tipler, the applicant attended the meeting and 
spoke in respect of the application).

RESOLVED

That the application be refused for the following reason:-

The proposed development would not provide an adequate level of 
outdoor private amenity space or adequete safe and secure cycle storage 
for future occupiers contrary to saved Policy DC42 of the Macclesfield 
Borough Local Plan and Policy AE3 (specifically points 6 and 14) of the 
Alderley Edge Neighbourhood Plan.

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Planning has delegated authority to do so in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Northern Planning Committee, provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

(This decision was contrary to the officers recommendation of approval).

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.50 am

Councillor J Nicholas (Chair)

Page 4



   Application No: 20/1970M

   Location: Walled Garden and Kitchen Garden, Alderley Park, CONGLETON ROAD, 
NETHER ALDERLEY, SK10 4TF

   Proposal: Full planning application for residential development (Use Class C3) with 
associated infrastructure, landscaping and access.

   Applicant: Jones Homes (North West) Limited and Alderley Park Limited

   Expiry Date: 01-Sep-2020

SUMMARY 

This application is for full planning permission (the time limit for submission of reserved matters 
under the outline having now expired) for two of the remaining undeveloped residential parcels 
in the southern campus area of Alderley Park. The principle of the development has been 
established by the outline approval, and it is considered that the proposals are appropriate 
development in the Green Belt and in line with the general policies in the Development Plan, 
NPPF and the Alderley Park Development Framework. 

There are no objections on the grounds of Highways, Landscaping, amenity, Flood 
Risk/Drainage or Environmental factors such as noise, air quality or contaminated land. In 
addition, the applicant has agreed to pay the required Education contribution.

With regards to Ecology and Landscaping, there are some outstanding matters which Members 
will need to be updated on, but it is considered that these matters should be resolved in time 
for the committee meeting.

The Council’s Tree Officer has raised the issue of social proximity to adjacent trees on part of 
the site, but on balance has concluded that the scheme is acceptable overall.

The Council’s Housing Officer has raised an objection to the application on the grounds that 
the normal 30% affordable housing is not being proposed, but as set out in the report it is 
recommended that the approach set by the original outline with regards to this matter is 
continued here.

This leaves perhaps the most significant issue here, that of design and heritage impact. Whilst 
the Council’s Design and Conservation Officer acknowledges that the proposals have 
improved significantly from the original scheme, on these important sites, particularly the 
Walled Garden, further improvements could have been made to form an exemplar scheme as 
can be found elsewhere at Alderley Park. However, it is considered the design and heritage 
impacts are acceptable in the context of the scheme as a whole.

As such the application is recommended for approval subject to a Section 106 Agreement and 
conditions. 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION:
APPROVE subject to conditions and a s106 agreement

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



SITE DESCRIPTION 

This application relates to two sites within the southern (largely residential) quarter at Alderley Park, lying 
south of previous residential developments by PJ Livesey in the courtyard and water-garden 
developments, and north and west of PH Properties developments at The Ride, Vale and Serpentine. To 
part of the southern boundary is a landscaped area on the southern edge of Alderley Park.

The first site, referred to as the Walled Garden, as the name implies was formerly a walled garden, but 
has not been used as such for some time, and is now just a grassed area with a few trees to the northern 
boundary. Part of the garden was used formerly as a tennis court. The wall, which is considered curtilage 
listed, forms the site boundary, with pedestrian access gates to the north, and a pedestrian opening to 
the south adjacent to the existing highway which terminates at this point. The site adjoins existing housing 
to the south, the cricket pitch to the west, the water-garden to the north, and the Kitchen Garden to the 
east.

The second site, referred to as the Kitchen Garden lies to the east of the Walled Garden. The site was 
formerly a football pitch and has a frontage to the access road, the other boundaries are to the arboretum 
to the north, an area of woodland to the east, and the landscaped boundary of the Park to the south.

The whole of Alderley Park lies entirely within the North Cheshire Green Belt, but is a Major Developed 
Site within the Green Belt. All the areas subject to this application are defined as being previously 
developed land in the Local Plan and Development Framework.

PROPOSAL

The application title reads:

“Full planning application for residential development (Use Class C3) with associated infrastructure, 
landscaping and access.”

The proposal however as discussed above is broken down into two distinct, although separate sites. The 
first site referred to as the Walled Garden proposes the building of 17 units, arranged with a landscaped 
area running around the inside of the wall, with properties facing towards that, creating a central area for 
parking and private amenity space. The second site referred to as the Kitchen Garden proposes the 
building of 33 units arranged with a more inward looking layout with properties backing onto the site 
boundaries. The properties are largely detached, although some are arranged in close proximity to each 
other. The properties in the walled garden are largely two storey – with three storey properties at the site 
entrance. In the kitchen garden the properties are more of a mix of two and three storey properties. A 
landscaped  walkway would run alongside the main access road providing a pedestrian link into the 
Arboretum and beyond, and a walkway would run along the inside of the walled garden. The proposals 
have been amended during the lifetime of the application.
.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Alderley Park has been the subject of a significant number of planning applications in recent years, 
including a series of applications associated with the residential development of the southern campus, 
redevelopment of the Parklands office block (now occupied by Royal London), a new leisure complex 
and more minor developments in the Mereside area. Of particular relevance to this application are:

Page 6



15/5401M  - Full planning permission for the demolition of a number of specified buildings; and outline 
planning permission with all matters reserved for a mixed-use development comprising the following:• Up 
to 38,000 sqm of laboratory, offices and light manufacturing floorspace (Use Class B1):• Up to 1,500 sqm 
of retail, café, restaurant, public house and / or crèche floorspace (Use Classes A1, A3, A4 and D1); • 
Up to 275 residential dwelling-houses, where up to 60 units could be for retirement / care (Use Classes 
C2 and C3); • Up to a 100 bed hotel (Use Class C1); • Sport and recreational facilities including an indoor 
sports centre of up to a 2,000 sqm (Use Class D2); • Up to 14,000 sqm of multi-storey car parking 
providing up to 534 spaces (sui generis); • A waste transfer station of up to 900 sqm of (sui generis); • 
Public realm and landscaping; • Other associated infrastructure – APPROVED June 2016

This application covered the whole of the Alderley Park Site, and granted outline approval for residential 
development on the site subject to this application. Adjacent to the site are the following recent planning 
approvals:

To the south and east:

16/5853M  - Reserved matters application including details of access, layout, landscaping, appearance 
and scale for a residential development comprising 73 new dwellings in addition to selective demolition 
and the renovation and extension of the Gardener's Cottage as a dwelling, new internal roads, boundary 
treatments and associated landscaping and infrastructure. An environmental statement was submitted 
with the outline application. - Alderley Park, Congleton Road, Nether Alderley, Macclesfield, Cheshire - 
APPROVED 2017 PH Properties

To the north (commercial):

17/5386M - Reserved matters application relating to outline approval 15/5401M for the extension and 
change of use of Blocks 113 and 114 (Tenants' Hall) from conference centre (D1/Sui Generis) to 
restaurant/gastropub (A3/A4) including selective demolition to facilitate conversion; the extension and 
change of use of Block 112 (former Stanley Arms) from public house (A4) to farm shop (A1) and guest 
rooms (C1) above including selective demolition to facilitate conversion; change of use of block 119 
(former Dovecote) from storage area (Sui Generis) to private dining room for restaurant/gastropub use 
(A3/A4); creation of a new building comprising guest rooms (C1); and creation of car parking, 
landscaping, boundary treatments and other associated works - APPROVED 2018

19/5529M -  Full planning application for the extension and change of use of blocks 113 and 114 (Tenants 
Hall) from conference centre (Use Class D1/Sui Generis) to a restaurant/gastropub (Use Class A3/A4) 
including car parking, landscaping, boundary treatments and other associated works  -  APPROVED

To the north (residential):

17/0212M - Reserved matters application following approved 15/5401M for details of access, layout, 
scale, landscaping and appearance including listed building consent for a residential development 
comprising of: - Conversion of historic courtyard buildings to create 17 residential units including 
selective demolition to facilitate conversion, demolition of other contemporary buildings & 3 new build 
units. - Creation of 14 new residential units within the wider historic courtyard, with podium car parking. 
- Demolition of the Watergarden building and erection of a 5-storey residential apartment building 
comprising 23 units, with underground car parking. - New public realm, landscaping, boundary 
treatments, landscape planting and associated infrastructure - APPROVED

Page 7



18/0868M - Application for approval of reserved matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) (following the grant of planning permission reference 15/5401M) to secure approval for different 
house types to the south of the lower courtyard buildings without podium car parking and for alternative 
car parking layout to land north of the lower courtyard buildings  - APPROVED

Finally, the application is accompanied by an application for Listed Building Consent

20/1971M - Listed building consent for residential development (Use Class C3) with associated 
infrastructure, landscaping and access.  Walled Garden and Kitchen Garden - Pending

POLICIES

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy – 2010-2030
PG 2          Settlement Hierarchy
PG 3          Green Belt
SC 5     Affordable Homes
SE 1     Design
SE 3     Biodiversity and Geodiversity
SE 4     The Landscape
SE 5     Trees, Hedgerows and woodland
SE 7     The Historic Environment
SE 9     Energy Efficient Development
SE13          Flood Risk and Water Management
CO 1     Sustainable Travel and Transport

LPS 61       Alderley Park Opportunity Site

Macclesfield Local Plan (Saved policies)
 
NE 3 Landscape Conservation
NE11 Nature Conservation
GC 1 Green Belt – New Buildings
GC 4 Major Developed Sites in the Green Belt
DC3 Design – Amenity
DC8 Design – Landscaping
DC9 Design – tree protection
DC13 Design – Noise

Other Material Considerations

The National Planning Policy Framework

Alderley Park Development Framework
Alderley Park Design Principles – Addendum Revision A (Approved as part of the outline approval 
15/5401M)

The EC Habitats Directive 1992
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010

Page 8



Circular 6/2005 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and their Impact within 
the Planning System
National Planning Practice Guidance

CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning)

United Utilities – No objections subject to conditions.

Cadent – Highlight gas infrastructure in the vicinity of the site.

The Gardens Trust – “Cheshire Gardens Trust strongly believes that the form and layout of the current 
proposals contain serious deficiencies. We therefore object to the granting of detailed planning 
permission for the housing in the walled garden and request consideration of points of concern raised 
regarding the “Kitchen Garden”.”

Highways – No objections.

Environmental Protection – No objections subject to conditions.

Education – No objections subject to a financial contribution towards education provision in the area.

Housing – Object as no affordable housing is being provided by the development.

Flood Risk – No objections subject to conditions.

VIEWS OF THE PARISH COUNCILS

Nether Alderley Parish Council – Commentating on the latest proposals:

“Once more the Parish Council has considered this application with great care and is aware that it has 
raised many concerns with neighbours, and indeed many professional consultees. We are also aware 
that not much has changed from the last application so our concerns remain the same. Whilst the Parish 
Council appreciate that 50 dwellings were allocated on this site within the Outline Planning Permission 
(15/5401M), it is a great disappointment to see the massing and density of the application causing 
overcrowding on the two small historic areas of Alderley Park. 

We appreciate that the applicant has addressed the number of 3 storey houses, however we still have 
serious objections to the inclusion of circa any 3 storey houses that we feel will dominate the Grade II 
Listed wall and impair the light to adjacent dwellings. We still consider them to be grand in design rather 
than ‘cottage style’ which we believe would be more appropriate within the Walled Garden area. There 
is no precedent to follow other styles that have been built on other developments on the site, as this area 
is of particular historic importance and special within its own right. The massing of the 3 storey, 5 
bedroom houses will have a negative impact, not only on the site, but to surrounding dwellings which 
have been built and we would urge CEC to ask for them to be removed from the application. There are 
now a significant amount of dwellings occupied on The Ride, The Oval and more recently the Water 
Garden complex. Whilst existing residents expected dwellings to be built in this area, house owners 
deserve respect in what is built surrounding their investments. 

Page 9



There remains little or no visitor parking available within the plan. We appreciate the latest layout has 
tried to address this but the Parish Council still feel the provision is lacking. We feel like an old record 
but this has been a familiar pattern with all previously developed areas in the park and our continued 
concerns are now becoming a reality. Cars being parked along roadsides, on verges and outside houses 
are common practice. No one uses garages for cars and this has to be factored in. Fifty more dwellings 
with 4/5 bedroom houses will generate at least 150 more cars before any visitors and the density and 
layout of this application does not address this issue satisfactorily. The Parish Council are deeply 
concerned that the reality of previous applications failing to address visitor parking will impact this 
densely populated area of the park which will only compound an already difficult situation.

The increased amount of cars entering via Eagle Way in order to access the site will cause issues. The 
ingress and egress via the stone gates immediately off the traffic lights is extremely narrow. The road is 
not wide enough to cope with both two lanes and parking that occurs on the verges and pavements. As 
a direct result, emergency vehicles will have impaired access which would be unacceptable. The 
combination of all the developments in such small areas of the site is overcrowding, and not in any way 
adequate. We have consistently complained about the lack of parking for both home owners and visitors 
generally across all developments and as time goes by we are being proved right. This application is just 
another example of overdeveloping with not enough provision for cars.

The Parish Council would concur with the opinion of Cheshire Garden Trust, in that this is a very special 
historic area of the park which requires care and sensitivity with the planning and redevelopment and we 
still do not feel this has been appreciated or reached within this latest application. We would ask that the 
developer once more readdress their application and take into account all the issues raised by 
professional consultees, residents and truly consider the historic feel of this parcel of land. We would 
ask that there be no 3 storey dwellings within the scheme at all. By definition of the words ‘Kitchen 
Garden’, the grand style of the proposed houses are inappropriate. We understand that for developers 
it is important to financially maximise their investment but in a special parcel of land like this with such 
historic value, we feel they need to appreciate the long term architecture and not just financial gain!”

OTHER REPRESENTATIONS

Three sets of comments have been received in response to the three consultations that have taken place 
following changes made to the application. The comments can summarised as follows:

 The application fails to meet the standards required of a development in this location in terms of 
national policy advice, the development plan and the master plan for the wider site.

 Development is of too high a density and three storey properties are not appropriate.
 Too little green space within the sites, when their names (garden) indicates this will be a feature.
 Concern about the setting in the walled garden from houses/cars and that the quality of the space 

does not address it’s historic significance.
 Concern about traffic impacts both on the access road (Eagles Rd.) which is considered narrow, 

and at the junction with the A34.
 Concern about traffic impacts of commercial traffic during the construction process.
 Impact on wildlife.
 There are not enough facilities/infrastructure to cater for 50 new dwellings.
 Loss of footpath link into the arboretum and changes made to levels in the kitchen garden.
 Concerns about fire risk in these enclosed sites.
 Loss of poplar trees on the southern site boundary.

Page 10



Full comments are available on the application file at:
http://planning.cheshireeast.gov.uk/applicationdetails.aspx?pr=20/1970M 

OFFICER APPRAISAL

Principle of Development/Green Belt

As mentioned above, the whole of Alderley Park falls within the Green Belt, but as set out in the policy 
section above, the built up areas of the site, which include the application site, are covered by policies 
LPS 61 ‘Alderley Park Opportunity Site’ in the Cheshire East Local Plan, and Saved Policy GC 4 ‘Major 
Developed Sites in the Green Belt’ of the Macclesfield Local Plan. The Alderley Park Development 
Framework, which builds on the LPS policy, clearly identifies the site as Previously Developed Land, 
which under policy LPS 61 allows for the construction of new buildings (Criteria 3) so long as they meet 
the criteria set out at 1. Which reads:

Criteria 1. Development shall be:
i. For human health science research and development, technologies and processes; or
ii. For residential (around 200 to 300 new homes) or other high value land uses demonstrated 
to be necessary for the delivery of the life science park and not prejudicial to its longer term 
growth; or
iii. For uses complimentary to the life science park and not prejudicial to its establishment or 
growth for this purpose.”

Outline approval has already been granted for this site and the 50 units are accounted for in the originally 
approved 275 units. The time period for approval of reserved matters applications under this outline has 
however now expired, and as such this application has now been submitted in full. It is still however 
considered to be a material consideration.

Criteria 2 is that the development shall be in accordance with the Alderley Park Development Framework. 
In this document the site is clearly shown as “Potential residential” in the indicative masterplan.

Criteria 3. States that construction of new buildings for uses in criterion 1 above shall be restricted to the 
Previously Developed Land (PDL) which is the case here.

Criteria 4 states that development would not have a greater impact on the openness and visual amenity 
of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it than existing development. This is examined 
further below.

Criteria 5 is primarily concerned with impact on Listed Buildings or other heritage impacts which again is 
considered further in this report, and is a significant issue here.

These policies are reflected in the NPPF which at Paragraphs 147-151 considers development in the 
Green Belt. Whilst the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt should be regarded as 
inappropriate development – which is by definition harmful, there are exceptions listed at Para 149 
including:

“g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land, 
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would:

Page 11

http://planning.cheshireeast.gov.uk/applicationdetails.aspx?pr=20/1970M


‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development; 
or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development would 
re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable housing 
need within the area of the local planning authority.”

In summary then, the proposed development of this site can be considered to be appropriate 
development in the Green Belt, on condition that it does not have a greater impact on openness than 
existing development. In this case it needs to be seen in the context of the built form as was at Alderley 
Park, and it needs to be looked at in the overall context of all the sites in the southern quarter (which 
included the former Alderley House and AZ Sports club both of which have been demolished) and as 
the overall volume of development (which was fixed at the outline stage) is less than that it replaces. 
Consequently, the overall impact on openness is less.

The NPPF advises that substantial weight must be given to the harm to the Green Belt. Any other harm 
additional to that of inappropriateness must also be considered. The proposal, due to its scale and 
nature, will have no significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt, and cause no other harm to 5 
the purposes of Green Belt (NPPF para. 138).

In conclusion then, the development is considered to constitute appropriate development in the Green 
Belt and to comply with the majority of the principles in the Development Plan (design and heritage will 
be addressed later in the report), and therefore there are no objections in principle to the site being 
developed for residential purposes, as has been determined previously.

Highways 

There is a total of 118 car parking spaces provided on the site, each of the units will have at least 2 
spaces each with the larger units having more parking spaces. The level of car parking provision accords 
with CEC standards. 

Cycle parking is provided within the curtilage of each of the dwellings.

With regard to the internal layout of the site, the road design is a non-standard layout and one that would 
not meet adoption requirements. However, given that all of the internal roads within Alderley Park are 
private, the LPA needs only to ensure that the site can be accessed safely and is accessible. 

The internal roads are shared surface and designed for low traffic speeds to encourage pedestrian and 
cycle usage. Swept paths have been submitted to indicate that refuse vehicles can negotiate the internal 
roads and turning areas have been provided.

In summary, the traffic arising from the development has already been agreed in the previous application, 
the internal layout is acceptable as a private road as are the levels of parking being provided. 

There are no highway objections raised. 

Landscape and Visual Impact

There have been prolonged discussions and many variations to the Walled Garden landscape proposals. 
The latest landscape proposals are now generally acceptable (subject to the receipt of satisfactory 

Page 12



revised drawings and additional levels information). The scheme could be further enhanced by the use 
of natural stone surfacing materials within the walled garden in accordance with the design guidance in 
the approved Design Principles Document. However, the current palette of surfacing materials is a 
significant improvement on previous proposals. Samples of the surfacing materials must be submitted 
for approval prior to commencement. 

The indicative proposals on the Softworks plan are generally acceptable but the detailed planting plans 
and specifications have purposely been left to the conditions stage to ensure that a fully detailed, high 
quality scheme can be agreed, particularly for the walled garden, including semi-mature evergreen 
hedgerows on rear garden boundaries. 

A comprehensive landscape management plan will be required by condition to ensure that the approved 
landscape scheme is carefully managed to a high standard to ensure an appropriate setting for the 
development, particularly within the walled garden.

Full design details for all proposed walls, fences, railings and gates must be submitted and also for all 
street furniture and lighting. Revised plans have been requested to amend the locations of garden 
boundary railings within the Walled Garden to provide sufficient space for semi-mature hedge planting 
which is an important part of the landscape scheme. 

Further details of existing and proposed site levels and revised cross sections have also been requested. 
Members will be updated on this accordingly.

Trees/Woodland

Condition 15 of the outline approval (15/5401M) required the submission of a detailed Arboricultural 
Method Statement in accordance with BS5837: 2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction (Recommendations), as part of any reserved matters application where there is a potential 
impact on trees.

In accordance with Condition 15 an Arboricultural Statement has been submitted in support of this 
application. The Statement includes a Tree Survey , Arboricultural Method Statement/Tree Protection 
Plan (Appendix 2) and Arboricultural Management Plan (Appendix 3).

The Survey has identified 8 individual trees, 7 groups, 1 woodland and two hedgerows. The 8 individual 
trees and four of the groups of trees located within the application site are not protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order and have been given a moderate (B) category rating. The remaining trees, 3 groups 
and the woodland located offsite are afforded protection by the Cheshire East Borough Council (Nether 
Alderley- Alderley Park No.3) Tree Preservation Order 2018.

The TPO protects trees within the Arboretum adjacent to the site to the North (A2) and offsite woodland 
(Alderley Park Local Wildlife Site) to the east and west of The Serpentine  (W4 of TPO). The layout has 
been the subject of discussions with the Agent as part of a pre-application submission with regard to the 
impact of the development on protected trees.

Para 9.3.1. of the Statement has identified a number of trees that require removal to accommodate the 
proposed development and which were agreed as part of pre-application discussions. These include the 
removal of a group of unprotected Hybrid Black Poplar, to the south of the site (G1) on the basis that the 
species characteristics are unsuitable from an arboricultural and landscape perspective

Page 13



The removal of these trees would be subject to the establishment of new planting along this section to 
create a more effective screen of mixed understorey species appropriate to the landscape.

It is noted that there is no provision for this in the submitted landscape scheme. Further detail is therefore 
required as part of a landscape condition/legal agreement on mitigation for the loss of these trees and 
the enhancement of landscaping along the southern boundary of the site

The proposed removals also include a mixed group of unprotected moderate (B) Category trees (G2) 
comprising of various Scots Pine, Cherry, Cherry Laurel, Whitebeam, Ash and Holly to the south west to 
allow for access into the site and working space. It is accepted that the removal of these trees will not 
have a significant impact upon the wider landscape setting, however it is understood that the Council’s 
Landscape Officer is seeking assurances that sufficient trees will be retained  around the nearby 
substation.

Five Sycamore trees and a Red Horse Chestnut tree (group G7) to the northern boundary of the site and 
forming part of Area A2 of the TPO have been agreed for removal as part of pre-application discussions. 
The Sycamores are all semi mature specimens, and the Red Chestnut is dead. Removal of these trees 
has been agreed on the basis that their removal is in the interests of good arboricultural practice and 
would benefit the development of adjacent trees within the arboretum. Issues of post development 
pressure on Group G7 are briefly raised in the Statement, however impact of shading will not be an issue 
as trees stand to the north of the proposals. Some issues of dominance to gardens will remain, however 
the Tree Officer is satisfied that these issues can be adequately defended.

It should be noted that additional replacement planting within the southern edge of the arboretum has 
been suggested in Para 9.7.1, which does not appear to be in the submitted landscape proposals.

A further six Sycamore trees located on the western edge of the protected woodland (W4 of the TPO 
and shown as W1 in the Statement) are proposed for removal to accommodate the development. As 
part of pre-application discussions, it has been agreed that the removal of these trees and rhododendron 
would benefit the structure and habitat value of the woodland edge.

The supporting Statement provides shading segments which indicate that the gardens of Plots 22-27 will 
be affected by shade from trees for part of the day. The impact of dense shading and the social proximity 
of the proposed development to the protected woodland was raised as a substantial issue during pre-
application discussions and is relevant to Plots 22-27. This issue is considered in BS5837:2012 Section 
5.3.4 and is a key factor to be factored into the design to reduce the risk of requests for felling and / or 
sever pruning by future occupiers.

The Statement at para 9.6.1 makes a general comment that for most of the trees there will be no post 
development pressures. However, paragraph 9.6.2 goes on to suggest that for G7 and W1 the spatial 
relationship may need to be reviewed post development.

The Tree Officer is not wholly convinced that the position of these plots facing the woodland will provide 
a sustainable relationship to the woodland. Shading of the gardens and rooms from trees close to the 
woodland edge will have some impact on private amenity space, in particular with regard to Sycamore 
(W1/1), Beech (W1/2) and a fully mature Beech (W1/5) with rear gardens at around 13 metres in depth 
when measured off plan. Some pruning of these trees is proposed as part of the submitted Tree 

Page 14



Management Schedule which will provide some limited benefit, however some shading issues will 
undoubtedly remain.

Mitigation measures are discussed at para 9.7.1 and refer to the Landscape General Arrangement 
Drawings citing replacement planting along the southern edge of the arboretum, along the northern 
boundary of the kitchen garden and a 10-metre strip of new native planting along the western edge of 
Woodland W1 and management of Group G1 to the south. 

With regard to the mitigation planting within W1 and Group G1 (referred to above) this is not included in 
the submitted landscape proposals and these details need to be provided to demonstrate that on balance 
the scheme is acceptable.

Design

In this summary assessment, BfL12 is used as the framework, having regard to the Alderley Park DAS 
and Design Addendum document and the CEC Design Guide 

Commentary is reserved to those criterions that are amber or red.  Those that are green are not 
discussed in detail unless there is a specific issue that needs addressing/clarification. As a consequence, 
the assessment tends to focus on aspects that need to improve rather than focusing upon some of the 
positives of the proposal.

Integrating into the Neighbourhood  1 amber, 2 green 3 and 4 amber  (criterion 1-4 are permissible as 
ambers under BfL, where that is as a consequence of matters outside the control of the applicant).

1 Connections  - The scheme is served via the existing street that terminates at the former sports 
complex south of the arboretum.  The scheme proposes a singular access into the walled garden, 
utilising a widened existing opening.  The kitchen garden part of the scheme has 2 points of vehicular 
access off the existing street, which is to be upgraded with a landscaped, tree lined, pedestrian route up 
to the arboretum entrance (Arboretum Walk).  Within the walled garden site, 2 existing pedestrian 
accesses into the Water Garden are to be maintained.  The height and buffer parameters set out in 
Design Addendum are to be respected based on the submitted designs for buildings and the layout for 
the walled garden site.  

The walled garden scheme is a predominantly outward facing scheme, contained by the listed wall with 
frontages addressing a perimeter open space, whereas the kitchen garden proposal backs onto the 
woodland to the south and east and onto arboretum to the north. The western edge is characterised by 
units oriented toward the new Arboretum walk proposed as part of the scheme   As commented by the 
Gardens Trust, the visibility of the arboretum entrance is affected by the siting of plot 28 on the kitchen 
garden site.

The approved design principles for the walled garden allow for a taller block in the NE corner of 14.5 
metres, but this will make it visible above the other townscape and it could be quite dominant in this 
context. Also, the approach from the Water garden could still be stronger by creating a more distinct 
focal point.  

Recommendations:

Page 15



•Revisit the design of the 5C house type to create a design that is less top heavy whilst still creating a 
focal point at entrance to the walled garden
•Improve the view coming into the walled garden from the water garden, using bespoke architecture to 
terminate the view and create surveillance 

3 Public transport – It is unclear from the application information what the level of bus provision is for the 
site, although there are highly walkable routes from the site via the Arboretum to the main spine running 
through Alderley Park and indeed through to the centre of the campus with a variety of employment and 
leisure uses.  

Recommendations:

•Promote active travel by encouraging cycling and walking by providing secure cycle storage and through 
provision of active travel information in new resident information  

4 Meeting local housing requirements

All properties within the proposal are of a significant size and no affordable housing is being provided 
and would therefore offer a very limited variety in housing mix within this development.  However, these 
are accepted principles from the outline planning approval and earlier phases of the wider Alderley Park 
development, given the other significant public benefit arising from the delivery of the science campus.    

Recommendations:

•Ideally a more balanced housing provision would be secured, but the established principles already 
followed for Alderley Park are duly noted.

Creating a place 5 and 6 amber, 7 and 8 green

5 Character – The scheme has evolved considerably from its original design, where standard house 
types were proposed, buildings exceeded the maximum height parameters and intruded into the 
safeguarded buffer zone for the walled garden. Through the course of the application this scheme has 
evolved positively, where elements of place specific design have been developed employing a more 
honest, and of today, approach, better exploiting the relationship to the historic wall, strengthening the 
landscape structure and generally providing a more responsive approach.  However, there remain some 
concerns with the design given the sensitivity of context more widely, the high standard of design and 
implementation secured on previous developments at Alderley Park and the very sensitive nature of the 
Walled Garden site itself.  These can be summarised as:

•In the walled garden, there is still a feel of these being standard house type skeletons underlying the 
enhanced envelope design, when in such a sensitive setting a bespoke approach would have been more 
successful  
•Concern about the gated enclosure of the central parking courts 
•The need to ensure natural material use in the walled garden (including stone in the floor-scape, and 
natural not composite timber cladding and timber doors, windows and detailing (if metal isn’t proposed)).  
Windows, doors and detailing on the kitchen garden part of the site should not include uPVC. 
•House type 5A on the walled garden site is considered to have too heavy an upper storey with its 
traditionally formed roof and steeper pitches and therefore could well relate poorly to the other parts of 
the of scheme and indeed the setting of the wall, notwithstanding the principles approved at outline for 

Page 16



taller development in the north eastern part of the walled garden (something that has proven difficult to 
reconcile in the detailed design of the site). Flank elevations are essentially blank and should include 
windows to habitable rooms in the sides at least at ground level to provide surveillance of the street and 
pedestrian route      
•Within the kitchen garden, the dwellings aligning the eastern lane are 3 storey on both sides and there 
is concern that this will affect the qualities of the space, given its proportions, potentially resulting in 
significant shadowing at certain times of the year and day.   
•The lighting scheme shows a mix of column and ground-based lighting.  No column lighting should be 
included in this scheme. Any high-level lighting should be building mounted.
•Materiality - the use of manmade cladding rather than natural.

The tree lined approach, Arboretum walk will make for a characterful gateway into the development and 
lead pedestrians toward the arboretum entrance but there is some acceptance of the Gardens Trust 
comments about the arboretum entrance being slightly hidden by new development, and that the 
pathway alignment and landscape treatment of the walk would be improved by simplifying the design.

In essence, in regard to character, this scheme remains a missed opportunity to fully embrace and 
therefore create a truly distinctive, bespoke development that takes full advantage of the opportunities 
presented by both sites.  Consequently, this does depart from the degree of innovation that was 
envisaged at the outline stage.  However, it is also acknowledged that the evolved design, especially for 
the walled garden, is a significant departure for this developer and that concerted efforts have been 
made to create as distinctive a scheme as possible within their commercial parameters, utilising skilled 
architects and landscape designers.

Recommendations:

•Ideally a genuinely bespoke approach to the design in the walled garden site to fully realise the site’s 
opportunities (but it is noted that the developer has probably gone as far as they are willing to in order to 
create a more distinctive, character driven approach)  
•Control over building materiality and working detail of the house types, particularly in the walled garden 
but important in the kitchen garden too
•Inclusion of contemporary chimneys, particularly on the all brick designs in the walled garden
•Control over the detail of the floor-scape, boundaries materiality and lighting
•Control over future permitted development to prevent inappropriate alterations

6 Working with the site and its context - Linked to the above, this site offers a very distinct opportunity. 
Walled garden sites generally remain predominantly undeveloped. Therefore, whilst the quadrant 
structure has been maintained and the buffer and height parameters respected for the walled garden 
site, there is still some concern that this unique opportunity is not being fully realised. The height and 
quite top heavy design of plots  41-43  raises particular concern, including their potential visibility from 
the water garden and from within the wider designed landscape – parkland to the west and the arboretum 
to the east, notwithstanding that their design sits within the approved  parameters for the north eastern 
corner of a maximum of 14.5m.  There is also concern that the eastern pedestrian access from the water 
garden does not benefit from a better sense of arrival, where stronger design creates a focal point on 
approach from the water garden.

Balancing that, the proposed plan form for the walled garden scheme, maintaining the historic central 
axis, the linear pedestrian route around the site and the landscape zone in front of the walls all help the 
scheme to work with the character of the site.  The scheme will also enable the remaining repairs to the 

Page 17



curtilage listed wall, creating a positive historic backdrop to the development.  The latest modifications 
to the designs of houses have also sought to better exploit the relationship with the wall and to create 
viewpoints and a better visual relationship between the heritage asset and the dwellings.  

Recommendations:

•Revisit the design of plots 41-43 to create a design that is less top heavy and dominant and better define 
the water garden entrance with a stronger built focal point in views south from the water garden   

Street and Home 9 and 10 green, 11 and 12 amber

11 Public and private spaces - No public space is to be provided for the kitchen garden, whilst incidental 
but well-designed shared amenity space separating built development from the walls is to be provided 
within the walled garden.  There is however, almost immediate access to an extensive public space 
network within the wider Alderley Park site, not least playing fields to the west and the arboretum and 
parkland to the north.  

The arboretum walk proposed between the two part of this site, is potentially a characterful entrance into 
the development and the arboretum, but as commented above, it could do with the design being 
simplified to reflect the more historic character of the arboretum and the general approach to the walled 
garden site.   

All dwellings will have a private garden. 

No management proposals seem to have been provided as part of the landscaping information for the 
walled garden or the Arboretum Walk areas of landscape. As these are very specific to the character 
and success of the development then future management needs to be clarified as part of this application 
and details approved and conditioned.  Whilst less significant, the landscape within the kitchen garden 
site also needs a positive management regime and the Design Principles Addendum requires that any 
works to the surrounding woodland edge should be subject to a method statement. 

Recommendations:

•Provision of management information for areas of communal and private space for the walled garden, 
the proposed arboretum walk and the kitchen garden and provision of an arboriculture method statement 
for any works to the woodland edge    

12  External storage and amenity space  – There is insufficient information within the application about 
the provision for convenient bin, outdoor and  cycle storage, which could lead to a proliferation of 
outbuildings to the detriment of the scheme 

Recommendations:

•More information is required in relation bin external and cycle storage 
•Removal of domestic PD rights

Conclusions on Design

Page 18



The design has unquestionably improved from that originally submitted and it is also acknowledged that 
this is a significant departure for this particular developer, achieving some strong site responsive 
characteristics.  However, it should also be noted this is a sensitive and challenging site, and unless a 
wholly bespoke design were to be realised then the full potential of the site cannot be achieved.  There 
is still an element of the underlying house types having a more standard DNA, notwithstanding that the 
external envelope of buildings for the walled garden site has been transformed positively.

The setting back of buildings to fully respect the parameters set out in the Design Principles Addendum 
enables the landscape of the walled garden site to better respond to the historic wall and to allow the 
structure to make a stronger statement within the development, but again perhaps more could have been 
done to help characterise the development and exploit the key axial views through the space to the walls.  
The gating of the courts on the north/south axis will limit this when these views could have been better 
exploited to help reinforce the walled garden character and setting through more imaginative design.        

Changes to the house types have enhanced the relationship of the buildings to the space and the historic 
walls, better revealing their historic character to residents. The amendments to the landscaping, with a 
circular route and various stopping/sitting points will also enable residents and visitors to better interact 
with the space and the historic structure, adding to the sense of place and liveability of the scheme.   

In another location without the high level of sensitivity, this would be viewed as a very positive scheme, 
however, the sensitive nature of the site and the design requirements and aspirations for the site and 
Alderley Park more generally, mean that, in pure design terms, this is a balanced case.  Whilst 
considerable effort has been employed, and the scheme has been improved, there is still reservation 
that a more successful design could have been achieved with a more flexible and bespoke design 
approach.

Heritage impact

Whilst there are a collection of heritage assets at Alderley park, the two that are most directly affected 
are the walled garden itself, both its fabric and its setting, and the non-designated historic park and 
garden within which the walled garden sits and forms an intrinsic part of. It should be noted however that 
the principle of development has already been granted in outline, subject to the design restrictions set 
out in the Design Principles Addendum and therefore these comments focus on specifics of this particular 
design and not the overarching principle of development per se, which should have been previously 
considered at the outline stage, having regard to law and policy.

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Sections 16 and 66 require that local 
authorities in considering whether to grant listed building consent or planning permission the local 
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

Para 189 of the NPPF states that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Para 194 requires  applicants to describe the 
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting, whilst para 
195 require local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal to avoid or minimise conservation impacts. 

A Heritage Impact assessment has been prepared on behalf of the applicant by Donald Insall Associates.  
These comments therefore draw on and refer to that assessment as part of the evaluation of the scheme. 

Page 19



The Walled Garden

The walled garden is considered a curtilage listed structure which lies to the south of the more ornate 
water garden. Within the water garden there are 2 separately listed assets on its eastern edge, approx. 
midway along the eastern wall are a set of listed gates and in the NE corner an entrance arch/Loggia, 
both Grade II. Outside of the walled gardens, situated within woodland to the north west of the walled 
garden, is a listed Ice House, also Grade II. It is considered that the direct impact on the appreciation of 
these assets arising from the development of the walled garden will be extremely limited, however there 
will be a more direct impact in terms of the setting of the Water Garden, also a curtilage listed, walled 
enclosure and invariably more so within the walled garden itself.  However, as stated above, the principle 
of development has already been granted.  It therefore falls on whether the detail of this particular 
proposal will lead to additional harm and whether public benefits would outweigh that.      

As part of these proposals the adverse impact upon the walled garden would be both upon its fabric, 
with some localised demolition and reconstruction to create the vehicular and pedestrian access into the 
site, and secondly, upon its setting, as it is presently an open space, albeit with the benefit of outline 
permission for residential development (subject to restrictive parameters).

The history of the site should also be born in mind.  The walled garden site historically was a functional, 
productive garden rather than the more polite form and character of the more ornamental gardens closer 
to the house, namely the Water Garden.  Latterly the walled garden site was used as enclosed sports 
fields associated with the site being owned by ICI then subsequently AstraZeneca, with the associated 
sports buildings in its proximity having recently been removed pending its re-development. This phase 
of its use sterilised the site, removing associated horticultural buildings and planting. Therefore, it has 
long since been used for its originally intended purpose. Nevertheless, the walled garden is still a 
significant built component in the wider landscape of the former hall and also significant in architectural 
and historical terms, both in its own right but also as part of the remnant complex of walled gardens 
associated with the Alderley Park estate.             

The Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) concludes that there will be less than substantial harm to the 
walled garden.  This is accepted.  Invariably development within it will affect how the heritage asset is 
experienced as an open space and a historic structure.  However, the more recent uses of the walled 
garden deprive it of the horticultural structures and landscape character that defined it historically, 
therefore the level of harm to its setting is considered less than if it had retained its original character as 
a walled garden.

Creating an enlarged breach within the wall itself to accommodate access will lead to localised harm.  
Ideally this would be reduced to the absolute minimum necessary to ensure as little historic fabric is lost 
as possible and also ensure that the proportions of the opening is as respectful as possible, 
notwithstanding the practical requirements to accommodate larger vehicles to service the site when 
developed.

Certain aspects of the proposal will assist in enabling the walled enclosure, if not the space itself, to be 
positively experienced.  Maintaining the 5-metre landscape buffer and 10 metre buffer free of built 
development should enable a positive landscape dominated foreground to the wall to help anchor it into 
this intimate landscape and for it to be appreciated as a heritage asset. The axial layout, interpreting the 
original quadrant arrangement of the walled garden will also enable a strong east-west view to be 
maintained through the site (less successfully north/south because of the intention to gate the 

Page 20



courtyards).  Maintaining the height parameters for the site should also help the buildings to remain of a 
human scale, although there are concerns about the height/design of the feature buildings at the site 
entrance and how they might overly dominate within the walled garden, but also potentially more widely 
(notwithstanding these are approved height parameters within the outline).        

NPPF para 199 states that in respect to designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be) and 
irrespective of whether it amounts to substantial harm, loss or less than substantial harm. Whilst NPPF 
para 200 requires clear and convincing justification for any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset. 

It is agreed that the level of harm would be considered as less than substantial, as concluded in the HIA. 
Therefore NPPF para 202 is also applicable, stating that “Where a development proposal will lead to 
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use”. The issue of heritage public benefit is discussed below.      

The Non-designated Historic Park and Garden

The walled garden is an important built element of the planned landscape of the park and garden and 
therefore has significance as part of that historic evolution and design. As noted above, there will be 
some adverse impact upon its setting and potentially to a lesser degree upon the adjacent Water Garden 
and Arboretum.  The kitchen garden is a former open area of the historic park, contained by woodland 
to the east and south and the arboretum to the north, which in more recent times was levelled to provide 
a football pitch and therefore lost some of its parkland character.  Therefore, there will be some adverse 
impact on the openness of this part of the park by its development and there will be intervisibility between 
the site and the arboretum. Therefore, in respect to both sites, as concluded in the HIA there will be 
some consequent harm to the non-designated historic park and garden.

As a non-designated asset, para 203 of the NPPF refers, in essence requiring a balanced judgement 
between the scale of harm to the asset and the asset’s significance.  

NB For the avoidance of doubt, Policy SE 7 The Historic Environment of the CELPS still reflects these 
national policies. 

Weighing the Heritage Public Benefit

There are certain heritage benefits derived from this combined scheme which can be summarised below: 

1.Development of the site would lead to the repair and restoration of the walls of the walled garden 
following principles set out in the Donald Insall Method Statement. Longer term it will also enable the 
walls to be maintained effectively to prevent deterioration and the need for further re-build as has 
happened in the recent past to the southern and eastern sections of wall.
2.The removal of sports buildings (already removed) and car parking that detracted from the walled 
garden, impacted adversely on part of the wall and the setting of this part of the park and garden.
3.The site development will enable creative landscape proposals to better reference the origins of the 
walled garden, including ornamental and productive planting.
4.The scheme has been designed to allow access around the perimeter of the walls with dwell spaces 
to enable the walled garden to be better experienced by residents and visitors to the site, with access 

Page 21



retained to the adjoining Water Garden and the arboretum and proposed Arboretum Walk.  This will 
enable the site to be better revealed the layout of the development in 4 quadrants will also assist in how 
the walled garden is experienced.
5.The proposed Arboretum Walk will help to improve accessibility to the arboretum and provide a positive 
gateway to both sites, helping to enhance this aspect of the walled garden’s setting and the setting of 
this part of the historic park and garden.   

Some of the benefits set out in the HIA are not considered as heritage public benefits, but in the wider 
planning balance they may be deemed to have wider public benefit.

Conclusions on Heritage Impacts

Linked to the above design assessment, the proposed development will result in less than substantial 
harm as identified in the HIA.  The harm to the listed wall would be as a consequence of the widening of 
the access and modification of the wall to accommodate the vehicular access, and adverse impact upon 
the walled garden’s setting, notwithstanding the general accordance with the principles set out in the 
Alderley Park Design Principles Addendum.  There would also be a moderate degree of harm to the 
setting of the non-designated historic park and garden due to development within the walled garden and 
kitchen garden and consequent impact on the setting of the historic park. However, it should also be 
recognised that the principle of development of both sites has been established by the granting of outline 
planning permission, and that much of the harm is generated by the general principle of development.

The development of the site will help to enable the repair and future maintenance of the wall as a curtilage 
listed building.  As noted in the HIA, the walled garden, along with that enclosing the water garden are 
significant built elements of the wider planned historic landscape, and therefore their physical 
conservation contributes significantly in heritage terms, especially having regard to their deteriorating 
condition and need for investment.  There are also other heritage public benefits derived from the 
proposal that will allow the significance of the walled garden and historic park and garden to be better 
revealed and experienced.   

In respect to built heritage, this is a balanced case having regard to the adverse impacts, the previous 
granting of outline approval establishing the principle for the proposed development and the heritage 
public benefits of the scheme. In the Design and Conservation Officer’s view, the harm slightly outweighs 
the heritage public benefit. However, the wider public benefits, namely the contribution this development 
makes to the re-purposing of Alderley Park as a life science park, is considered to tip the balance in 
favour of approving the development, although it is accepted this is finely balanced in this case.

A number of conditions are recommended.

Amenity

Both sites are self-contained, and although there is a relatively close relationship with existing properties 
to the south, the development meets, or in most cases exceeds the required separation distances 
between properties, and as such there are no privacy or overlooking issues.

Ecology 

Alderley Park Local Wildlife Site (LWS)

Page 22



This LWS is located immediately adjacent to the eastern boundary of the application. The close proximity 
of the proposed development to the LWS means that it has the potential to have number of indirect 
impacts on it.

In order to mitigate impact on the LWS the proposed development includes a 10m landscaped buffer 
between the development and the edge of the woodland. The submitted ecological assessment also 
recommends the production of a Construction Environmental Management Plan to reduce the risk of 
noise and dust related impacts.

It is advised that these proposals are adequate to mitigate the impact of the proposed development upon 
the LWS. The proposed 10m buffer would however require fencing off during the construction phase and 
detailed planting proposals for the buffer would also be required. It is advised that these could be dealt 
with by means of a condition if detailed proposals are not submitted in support of the application.

Lighting

Inappropriate lighting has the potential to have an adverse impact upon foraging bats and other wildlife. 
It is advised that the previously submitted lighting strategy is acceptable and would be unlikely to result 
in any significant ecological impacts.  Confirmation is however required that his lighting strategy is 
applicable to the recently revised layout plans.

Bats

Arboricultural works are proposed to a number of trees that have been identified as having potential to 
support roosting bats. The Council’s Ecologist recommends that a further survey is required of any trees 
with bat roost potential of moderate or higher which would be affected by the proposals. It is advised that 
a report of this further survey must be submitted prior to the determination of the application. Members 
will be updated on this matter accordingly.

Great Crested Newts
 
Considering the nature of the habitats on site, the distance to the nearest ponds, the nature of the 
intervening habitat and the locations of the known great crested newt populations, it is advised that this 
species is not reasonably likely to be present or affected by the proposed development.

Nesting Birds

If planning consent is granted a condition would be required to safeguard nesting birds.

Badgers
 
No evidence of badger activity was recorded during the submitted survey. The proposed development 
is therefore not currently likely to have an impact upon this species. The status of badgers on a site can 
however change over time. This species is known to occur within the wider Alderley Park, therefore it is 
recommended that in the event that planning permission is granted a condition is required to ensure that 
an updated badger survey is undertaken and submitted prior to the commencement of development.

Hedgehog 

Page 23



Hedgehogs are a biodiversity action-plan priority species and hence a material consideration. Whilst this 
species was not recorded during the submitted surveys it may occur in the wider Alderley Park site. If 
planning consent is granted it is recommended that a condition be attached to provide gaps for 
hedgehogs to be incorporate into any garden or boundary fencing proposed.

Biodiversity Net Gain

Any development proposals must seek to lead to an overall enhancement for biodiversity in accordance 
with Local Plan policy SE3(5). The Council’s Ecologist recommends that in order to assess the overall 
loss/gains of biodiversity an assessment undertaken in accordance with the Defra Biodiversity ‘Metric’ 
version 2 must be undertaken and submitted with the application. Members will be updated on this matter 
accordingly. In order to achieve net gain for biodiversity it should be ensured that any habitats are higher 
value (such as ponds and woodland, more species rich grassland etc) are retained and enhanced as 
part of the development proposals.

If additional habitat creation measures are required to ensure the site achieves a net gain for biodiversity, 
consideration should be given to the creation of additional ponds and species rich grassland. Offsite 
habitat creation may be required if an appropriate level of habitat creation cannot be delivered onsite.

This application also provides an opportunity to incorporate features for species groups such as nesting 
birds and roosting bats. Proposals are included with the ecological assessment however in accordance 
with the CEC Design Guide it is advised that the number of boxes must be increased so that bird or bat 
boxes are provided on 30% of proposed dwellings. Members will be updated on this matter accordingly.

Flood Risk/Drainage

No objections to the application have been raised by the Council’s flood Risk Team, subject to conditions 
requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted 
Floor Risk Assessment, and the submission and approval of a drainage strategy/design, ground 
investigation and associated management/maintenance plan.

Noise/Residential amenity

A Noise Technical Note has been submitted in support of the application. 

Transportation noise impact has been assessed in accordance with ‘BS8233:2014 Guidance on Sound 
Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings’, an agreed methodology for the assessment of the noise 
source.

The Noise Technical Note – methodology, assessment and conclusion are accepted.

INTERNAL NOISE CRITERIA
Compliance with BS 8233:2014 will be achieved with standard thermal double glazing and non-acoustic 
trickle vents.

EXTERNAL NOISE CRITERIA
Due to screening of the gardens from the A34 via the proposed houses, noise levels in external garden 
areas are also predicted to meet the external noise limits set out in BS 8233:2014, with no additional 
mitigation necessary.

Page 24



Air Quality

This proposal is for the residential development of 50 new dwellings. Whilst this scheme itself is of a 
small scale, and as such would not require an air quality impact assessment, there is a need for the 
Local Planning Authority to consider the cumulative impact of a large number of developments in a 
particular area.  In particular, the impact of transport related emissions on Local Air Quality.

No objections are raised, subject to conditions relating to requiring a Travel Information Pack and 
Electrical vehicle infrastructure.

Contaminated Land

The Contaminated Land team have no objection to the above application subject to the following 
comments with regard to contaminated land:
 
The application is for a proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the presence of 
contamination.  Residential developments are a sensitive end use and could be affected by any 
contamination present or brought onto the site.

Site investigation works have been carried out and remedial options were presented with regards 
asbestos. The preferred solution should be confirmed within a Remedial Strategy.

It is noted that the area of the former car park has not been investigated.  This should be undertaken 
during enabling works with proposals for this contained within the Remedial Strategy.
 
As such, and in accordance with the NPPF, the contaminated land section recommends that conditions, 
reasons and notes be attached should planning permission be granted.

Education

The development of 50 dwellings is expected to generate:

 9 primary children (50 x 0.19) 10 – 1 SEN 
 8 secondary children (50 x 0.15) 
 1 SEN children (50 x 0.51 x 0.023%)

The development is expected to impact on primary and secondary school places in the immediate 
locality. Contributions which have been negotiated on other developments are factored into the forecasts 
both in terms of the increased pupil numbers and the increased capacity at schools in the area as a 
result of agreed financial contributions. The analysis undertaken has identified that a shortfall of primary 
and secondary school places still remains.  

Special Education provision within Cheshire East Council currently has a shortage of places available 
with at present over 47% of pupils educated outside of the Borough.  The Service acknowledges that 
this is an existing concern, however the 1 child expected from the Walled garden and kitchen garden, 
Alderley Park will exacerbate the shortfall.  The 1 SEN child, who is thought to be of mainstream 
education age, have been removed from the calculations above to avoid double counting. 

Page 25



To alleviate forecast pressures, the following contributions would be required:

9 x £11,919 x 0.91 = £97,617
8 x £17,959 x 0.91 = £130,742
1 x £50,000 x 0.91 = £45,500 (SEN)
Total education contribution: £273,859

Without a secured contribution of £273,859 Children’s Services would raise an objection to this 
application.

This objection is on the grounds that the proposed development would have a detrimental impact upon 
local education provision as a direct cause from the development.  Without the mitigation, 9 primary 
children, 8 secondary children and 1 SEN child would not have a school place.  The objection would be 
withdrawn if the financial mitigation measure is agreed. The applicant has agreed to the required 
contribution.

Housing

Housing write: “As this planning application is separate to the previous permission, it is the view of 
Strategic Housing that this application is viewed without consideration of previous permissions, and that 
the Council should ensure consistent application of housing policies across development sites.

As such, CELP Policy SC5 states that on-site affordable housing shall be provided on sites within Local 
Service Centres (of which Alderley Edge is one of these) where there are 11 units or greater (or have a 
maximum combined gross floorspace of more than 1,000 sq.m).  Therefore, due to the 50 proposed 
dwellings, the applicant should be providing 30% on-site affordable housing, which equates to 15 
affordable dwellings.  This should be split as 65% rented tenure (10 units) and 35% intermediate tenure 
(5 dwellings). 

House types should reflect the need for the area.  The current (8th February 2021) Cheshire Homechoice 
data for Alderley Edge shows rented need as follows:

1 bed – 166 households
2 bed – 75 households
3 bed – 48 households
4 bed – 18 households
5 bed - 12 households

Therefore, the house types proposed should go some way to reflect the needs of the area.

As this is a full application, an Affordable Housing Statement should be provided by the applicant which 
outlines the layout, mix, tenure and type of affordable properties, as well as the mechanisms used to 
ensure that they remain affordable in perpetuity.  Rented affordable properties need to be transferred 
and managed by a registered provider.  The Strategic Housing team are able to provide details of RP’s 
operating in Cheshire East, if required.  Intermediate tenure can include all types recognised by the 
NPPF, including Shared Ownership, Rent to Buy, Shared Equity & Discounted Market Sale.

No Affordable Housing Statement has been provided in the updated documents provided and as such 
Housing object to the full application.”

Page 26



Members will be aware that as part of the outline approval, and subsequent full/outline approvals on the 
site, it has been agreed that 15% affordable housing would be provided on site under the established 
Life Science Employee Housing Scheme or an updated Scheme, which achieves an element of 
affordable housing particularly relevant to Alderley Park, whilst allowing more investment into life 
sciences. It is recommended that this is continued in this case.

SECTION 106

In line with the previously approved site-wide outline application (which has been used for subsequent 
applications not directly linked to this approval) a section 106 agreement will accompany the application 
and is required to secure the following:

 Profits to be re invested in life science development
 Education contribution in line with the request attached
 15% affordable housing to be provided on site under the established Life Science Employee 

Housing Scheme or an updated Scheme that could be extended to other Alderley Park 
employees.

The wording can be copied across for the outline consent and pro rata applied to this smaller scheme.

CIL REGULATIONS

In order to comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, it is necessary for 
planning applications with legal agreements to consider the issue of whether the requirements within the 
S106 satisfy the following: a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; a) 
Directly related to the development; and b) Fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. It is considered that the contributions required as part of the application are justified meet 
the Council’s requirement for policy compliance. All elements are necessary, directly relate to the 
development and are fair and reasonable in relation to the scale and kind of development. The non-
financial requirements ensure that the development will be delivered in full. On this basis the scheme is 
compliant with the CIL Regulations 2010.

CONCLUSIONS

This application is for full planning permission (the time limit for submission of reserved matters under 
the outline having now expired) for two of the remaining undeveloped residential parcels in the southern 
campus area of Alderley Park. The principle of the development has been established by the outline 
approval, and it is considered that the proposals are appropriate development in the Green Belt and in 
line with the general policies in the Development Plan, NPPF and the Alderley Park Development 
Framework.

There are no objections on the grounds of Highways, Landscaping, amenity, Flood Risk/Drainage or 
Environmental factors such as noise, air quality or contaminated land. In addition, the applicant has 
agreed to pay the required Education contribution.

With regards to Ecology and Landscaping, there are some outstanding matters which Members will need 
to be updated on, but it is considered that these matters should be resolved in time for the committee 
meeting.

Page 27



The Council’s Tree Officer has raised the issue of social proximity to adjacent trees on part of the site, 
but on balance has concluded that the scheme is acceptable overall.

The Council’s Housing Officer has raised an objection to the application on the grounds that the normal 
30% affordable housing is not being proposed, but as set out in the report it is recommended that the 
approach set by the original outline with regards to this matter is continued here.

This leaves perhaps the most significant issue here, that of design and heritage impact. Whilst the 
Council’s Design and Conservation Officer acknowledges that the proposals have improved significantly 
from the original scheme, on these important sites, particularly the Walled Garden, further improvements 
could have been made to form an exemplar scheme as can be found elsewhere at Alderley Park. 
However, it is considered the design and heritage impacts are acceptable in the context of the scheme 
as a whole.

As such the application is recommended for approval subject to a Section 106 Agreement and 
conditions. 

RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement to Secure:

• Profits to be re invested in life science development
• Education contribution of £273,859
• 15% affordable housing to be provided on site under the established Life Science Employee 

Housing Scheme or an updated Scheme that could be extended to other Alderley Park employees.

And the following conditions:

1. Standard 3 year consent
2. Approved Plans
3.    Approval of materials for both dwellings and hard and soft landscape features, including sample 

brickwork panel for each site including samples of detailing brickwork for the walled garden units, 
and working drawings and samples for ALL elements of detail on the exterior of new buildings     

4. Landscaping including details of the woodland management and new native planting within the 
Kitchen Garden woodland buffer. All hardscape to be in natural materials unless otherwise agreed.

5. Implementation of landscaping
6. Boundary treatment including design details for all proposed walls, fences, railings and gates
7. Soils management scheme to be submitted and approved
8. Landscape Management Plan for a minimum period of 20 years period
9.      Tree Protection and Construction Specification / Method Statement 
10.  Development to be in accordance with the Great Crested Newt Reasonable Avoidance measures
11. Updated badger survey to be submitted and approved
12. Method statement for the safeguarding of the LWS/ancient woodland
13. Development to accord with the Flood Risk Assessment
14. Submission of a detailed strategy / design, ground investigation, and associated management / 

maintenance plan for the drainage of the site
15. Separate drainage systems for foul and surface water

Page 28



16. CEMP to include measures to minimise impacts from dust and noise on the adjacent Local Wildlife 
Site.

17.   Lighting to be agreed. It is also strongly suggested there should be no column-based lighting in 
this scheme.  Any high-level lighting should be building mounted.

18. Travel information pack to be submitted and approved
19. Electrical vehicle infrastructure to be submitted and approved
20. Approval of a contaminated land remediation strategy
21. Contaminated land verification report to be submitted and approved
22. Soil tests for contamination to be submitted and approved
23. Measures to deal with unexpected contamination
24.   Full details of existing and proposed levels and contours to be submitted and approved
25. Safeguarding of nesting birds
26. Provision of gaps in fences for hedgehogs.
27. Submission of details for the fencing of and safeguarding of the proposed 10m buffer adjacent to 

the Alderley Park LWS.
28. Submission of detailed planting specification for the 10m buffer adjacent to the Alderley Park LWS.
29.    Removal of domestic Permitted Development rights

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning (Regulation) has 
delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Northern Planning 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

Page 29



P
age 30



   Application No: 20/5021M

   Location: BEECHWOOD, 6, MOSS ROAD, ALDERLEY EDGE, WILMSLOW, 
CHESHIRE, SK9 7HZ

   Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of a single replacement 
dwelling and a detached infill dwelling with associated works.

   Applicant: Mr & Mrs Robinson

   Expiry Date: 19-Jan-2021

SUMMARY:

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing house and the 
construction of a replacement dwelling and a new dwelling in the side 
garden.  The site is located within the Green Belt, but having regard to 
relevant case law, it is considered to be in a village for the purposes of 
Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (“CELPS”) policy PG 3.  

The proposal would fall within two of the exceptions listed within CELPS 
policy PG 3 and NPPF paragraph 149.  The replacement dwelling would 
not be materially larger than the one it would replace, and the new 
dwelling would be limited infilling within a village. The proposed 
development would not be inappropriate within the Green Belt.  

Given the varied character of the area and surrounding properties, it is 
considered that subject to conditions, there would be no adverse impact 
to visual amenities.  

Whilst this proposal must be determined on its own merits, a very recent 
appeal decision for the adjoining site confirms that the site should be 
considered as being located “within a village” for the purposes of 
interpreting the relevant Green Belt policy applicable to this planning 
application.

Subject to conditions, the proposal complies with the relevant policies of 
the Development Plan.  

RECOMMENDATION 
Approve subject to conditions 

Page 31 Agenda Item 6



REASON FOR REFERRAL 

The application has been called to Committee by the local ward member, Cllr Craig Browne, 
for the following reasons: 
“Following consideration of "Rydal", 8 Moss Road, Alderley Edge (20/4003M) by Northern 
Planning Committee on 02.12.2020, this application relating to the immediately adjacent 
property would benefit from a similar level of scrutiny by the members of the committee. 
Committee members may wish to consider the extent to which planning policies: PG3 (green 
belt) as well as SE1 and SD2 (character) may be relevant to this application.”

DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT

The application site is a detached two storey dwelling which lies within a ribbon of development 
within the Green Belt.  Alderley Edge village centre lies to the west of Alderley Edge Village 
Centre.   

The site is within a Local Landscape Designation and within Manchester Airport Safeguarding 
Zone.  There are protected trees along the road frontage, as within the rear garden of the site.   

DETAILS OF PROPOSAL 

This application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing house and the 
construction of a pair of detached houses.  The proposed development would use existing 
accesses onto Moss Road.  

RELEVANT HISTORY 

There is no relevant planning history specific to the application site, but the application below 
in relation to the adjoining site  is relevant.

Rydal, 8 Moss Road 

20/4003M – refused - 3 December 2020.
Demolition of existing dwelling and its replacement with a detached dwelling and detached infill 
dwelling.

Appeal allowed 16 August 2021.  Ref APP/R0660/W/21/3268648

POLICIES 

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS)

PG 3 – Green Belt 
SD 2 – Sustainable Development Principles 
SE 1 – Design  
SE 3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SE 4 – The Landscape 
SE 5 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

Page 32



SE 13 – Flood Risk and Water Management 
CO 1 – Sustainable Travel and Transport 
Appendix C – Adopted Parking Standards 

Saved Macclesfield Borough Local Plan (MBLP)

GC1 – Green Belt – New Buildings 
DC3 – Amenity 
DC6 – Circulation and Access 
DC9 – Tree Protection 
DC38 – Space, light and privacy 

Other Material Policy Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (revised 2021) 

Alderley Edge Neighbourhood Plan 

The Alderley Edge Neighbourhood plan was “made” and became part of the development plan 
following a referendum in May 2021.

AE1 – Alderley Edge Development Strategy 
AE2 – Design, Scale and Type of New Housing 
AE3 – Sustainable Housing Design
AE4 – Rear Garden and Backland Development 
AE9 – Landscape Character and Access  
AE12 – Local and Historic Character 

Revised Publication Draft SADPD (September 2020)
Submitted for examination April 2021

PG 10 – Infill villages 

CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 

Alderley Edge Parish Council - strongly recommends refusal and call in to committee. It is 
overdevelopment in the greenbelt, and, on its side of the road, isn’t appropriate in density, 
scale, or grain of the area. This is contrary to emerging neighbourhood plan policy AE2. In fill 
development and increased density aren’t consistent to this area. There is insufficient 
justification for supporting the increased density and is as such also against emerging 
neighbourhood plan policy AE4. Housing supply needs in CE and Alderley Edge are already 
being met.
In principle this proposal differs little from 20/4003M just recently refused at committee and 
ought to be rejected on the same grounds

United Utilities – no objections, comments regarding sustainable drainage and water and 
drainage supply  

Page 33



Flood Risk – initially objected to the planning application.  This objection was removed 
following the submission of a drainage strategy.  They have required conditions relating to the 
ground and finished floor levels and the submission of a detailed drainage strategy 

Environmental Health – no objections subject to conditions, relating to EV charging and ultra-
low emission boilers.  

Highways – no objections
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 

21 representations received.   20 objecting to the proposal and one making general comments.  
The content of these representations are summarised below: 

Objections: 

- Development is outside the village boundary.  It is inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, conflicting with CELPS policy PG 3, MBLP policy GC1 and NPPF chapter 
13.  

- Development would be harmful to openness 
- Similar application at 8 Moss Road was refused for being inappropriate development 

within the Green Belt 
- Contrary to Alderley Edge Neighbourhood Plan policies including AE2, AE4, AE 11 and 

AE 14.  
- Area suffers from poor drainage, with surrounding gardens flooding, development is 

likely to make this worse 
- Flood Risk officers should be consulted on the proposal 
- Number of applications for windfall infill developments along this part of Moss Road.  

Character of Moss Road is under threat 
- Development is not in keeping with the character and appearance of Moss Road.  
- The proposal would result in overdevelopment and would be cramped.  It would be 

contrary to CELPS policies SD 2 and SE 1.   
- Loss of mature tees and impact on protected Weeping Willow 
- Development may affect the desirability and house prices for neighbouring properties 
- Too many cars along Moss Road, with inadequate footpaths for walkers 
- Development would make on road parking pressures worse, which is an accident waiting 

to happen  
- Development would increase the demand for utilities – Duke Street already suffers from 

low water pressure 
- If approved would set precedent for the rest of Moss Road 
- Concern for grass verges – during and after building works 

General comments: 

- Existing house is of modest and dated appearance, existing additions appear disjointed
- Ridge height should not be greater than existing.   Given ground levels appear to be 

incorrect 
- Number of windows facing 8 Moss Road should be reduced 
- Houses should be spaced evenly on the plot 
-  Concerns regarding overlooking from balcony 

Page 34



- Replacement hedge should be restricted to maximum height of 6 feet 

OFFICER APPRAISAL

Principle of development – Green Belt 

The application site lies within the Green Belt.  National and local policies attach great 
importance to Green Belts.  The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl 
by keeping land permanently open.  The two essential characteristics of Green Belts are their 
openness and their permanence.  

Green Belts serve the following five purposes: 

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

To achieve this, there are restrictions on the types of development which may be carried out.  
These are detailed within NPPF paragraphs 149 and 150 and reiterated within CELPS policy 
PG 3.  

Development not falling within one of the listed exceptions is inappropriate.  NPPF paragraph 
147 confirms that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and 
should not be approved except in very special circumstances.  

NPPF paragraph 148 directs Local Planning Authorities to give substantial weight to any harm 
to the green belt. It confirms that ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.  

NPPF Paragraph 149 states that all new buildings other than those specifically listed as 
exceptions should be viewed as inappropriate development.  The following exceptions are 
relevant to this application: 

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not materially 
larger than the one it replaces 

e) limited infilling in villages 

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land, 
whether redundant or in continuing use, which would not have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt than the existing development.  

These listed exceptions are also reiterated within CELPS policy PG 3.  

Page 35



In this case, it is considered that the development would not meet NPPF 149g).  this is because 
the definition of ‘previously developed land’ specifically excludes land in residential gardens in 
built up areas.  The increase in built form would also result in the development having a greater 
impact on openness. 

However, it needs to be considered whether the development would fall within any of the other 
exceptions, notably whether the development could be considered as limited infilling in villages 
or a replacement building which is not materially larger.  

Replacement buildings in the Green Belt  

NPPF paragraph 149 includes as an exception the demolition and replacement of existing 
buildings, provided that they are in the same use and not materially larger than the building they 
would replace.   

Given that one of the proposed dwellings would be located on the footprint of the existing, it 
would be reasonable to assess this as a replacement dwelling for the purposes of CELPS policy 
PG 3 and NPPF paragraph 145.  

Whether a proposal is materially larger than the dwelling it would replace will depend on 
various factors, including its footprint, volume, height, design and the spread of development. 

A comparison of the existing and proposed figures is set out in the table below: 

Dwelling as 
existing 

Dwelling as 
proposed 

Percentage 
change 

Footprint 133m2 138m2 +4%
Height 7.95m 7.95m 0
Volume 734m3 914m3 +17%

The above figures indicate that the replacement dwelling be slightly larger than the existing 
house in both volume and footprint, although there would be no change in overall height.  It is 
not considered that the proposed increase in volume would reach the threshold for being 
materially larger, particularly when factoring in the location of the site within a ribbon of 
development. The increase in volume is comparable to the replacement dwelling granted 
planning permission on appeal at No.8 Moss Road (12.8%).

It is considered that the replacement dwelling would not be materially larger.  It would fall within 
the exception and would not be inappropriate within the Green Belt.  

Limited Infilling in Villages 

It also needs to be established whether the proposed infill dwelling would fall within one of the 
listed exceptions or whether it would be inappropriate development.   

The NPPF does not provide a definition of what should be considered to be limited infilling in 
villages, but the CELPS defines “infill development” as “the development of a relatively small 
gap between existing buildings”, and the MBLP defines “infilling” as “the infilling of a small gap 

Page 36



in an otherwise built up frontage (a small gap is one which could be filled by one or two 
houses)’’.

It is a material consideration that planning permission has recently been granted on appeal 8 
Moss Road (ref.20/4003M.  The development sought at 8 Moss Road is similar in principle in 
that 2 dwellings were proposed to replace the existing single dwelling on the plot. The Planning 
Inspector has allowed the development on the basis that one of the dwellings would be 
replacement dwelling acceptable under Green Belt policy and the second dwelling would be an 
appropriate infill dwelling.

This scheme was initially refused by the Council for two reasons.  The first of which is relevant 
to the question of whether this development can be considered as an infill.  

“The proposed development would not constitute limited infilling in a village. It would not fall 
within any of the exceptions listed within NPPF paragraphs 145 and 146 and Cheshire East 
Local Plan Strategy PG 3.  It would be inappropriate development within the Green Belt.   
There are no material planning considerations, which would clearly outweigh this harm.  The 
proposal would conflict with CELPS policy PG 3, MBLP policy GC1 and the aims of NPPF 
chapter 13.”

There are two key points to draw out in respect of this application now proposed at 6 Moss 
Road. 

Firstly, the Planning Inspector has concluded that the adjoining site at No.8 is so closely 
connected to the village that although it lies outside of the settlement boundary the site should 
be considered as lying within a village for the purposes of infill policy in the Green Belt. This is 
consistent with relevant planning case law Wood v SSCLG and Gravesham Borough Council 
[2014] EWHC 683). The inspector concluded:

“Based on my observations on my site visit, the prevailing character of Moss Road between 
Duke Street and “Moss Hall Cottage” is one which I would associate far more with an affluent 
and spacious suburban part of Alderley Edge, rather than the surrounding rural area. The 
village centre a short distance away is also readily and easily accessible from the appeal site, 
including for those travelling on foot or by bicycle. I therefore consider that for the purposes of 
determining this appeal, notwithstanding that it lies outside the Alderley Edge settlement 
boundary as defined in the CELP, the appeal site should be treated as being within the village.”

As 6 Moss Road adjoins the site referred to by the Inspector and is closer to the village than 8 
Moss Road (in fact the site is only about 20 metres from the settlement boundary on the road 
frontage) the same conclusion should be drawn for this application.

Secondly, this application differs from the recently allowed scheme for 8 Moss Road 
(20/4003M), as there would be no overlap between the built form of the infill plot and the existing 
dwelling.  It would therefore be perfectly possible for only the new dwelling to be constructed 
without the demolition of the existing building.   

The distance between the built form of the existing dwelling and 8 Moss Road is approximately 
28m.  The gap between the replacement dwelling and 8 Moss Road would be around 33m.  

Page 37



Whether or not a gap can be considered as relatively small will depend on the context.  In the 
surrounding area, there is a variety of plot widths.  It would not be unusual for a gap of a similar 
size to be filled with either a single house. In this location the gap between the either the existing 
house or the replacement house and 8 Moss Road is considered to be relatively small.  

This would be consistent with the appeal decision at 8 Moss Road and the fact that the spacing 
at 6 Moss Road would enable an infill dwelling to take place independently of the replacement 
dwelling should add further weight to the view that the proposal is compliant with Green Belt 
policy.

Having regard to the size and scale of the development and its location within a village, it is 
accepted that the additional net dwelling that would result on the site may be considered as 
limited infilling in villages and would not be inappropriate development within the Green Belt.   
This, in combination with the replacement of the existing dwelling,  which is also within the 
allowance of Green Belt policy, leads to the conclusion that the development proposed overall 
would not be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

As the proposed development is an appropriate form of development in the Green Belt there is 
no requirement to undertake any further assessment specifically in terms of the impact on 
openness. The issues around the impact on the character and appearance of the surroundings 
are considered below.
  
Character and Appearance 

The NPPF sets out guidance for achieving well-designed places and a recent update has re-
enforced the importance of high quality design in new development.  It states that planning 
decisions should ensure that amongst other matters, developments should be: 

- Visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping

- Sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment 
and landscape setting

The NPPF directs local authorities to refuse development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions.  It also states that where the design of a development accords with clear expectations 
in plan policies, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to 
development.  

CELPS policy SD 2 sets out the sustainable development principles for Cheshire East.  It 
requires all development to contribute positively to an area’s character and identity, in terms of, 
amongst other matters, its: 

- Height, scale, form and grouping, 
- External design features
- Massing of development – the balance between built form and green spaces.
- Relationship to neighbouring properties, streetscene and wider neighbourhood.     

Page 38



CELPS policy SE 1 deals with design.  Similar to policy SD 2, it requires developments to make 
a positive contribution to their surroundings.  This includes a requirement to ensure design 
solutions achieve a sense of place by protecting and enhancing the quality, distinctiveness and 
character of settlements.  

Neighbourhood Plan policy AE2 deals with the design, scale and type of new housing.  Similar 
to CELPS policies SD 2 and SE 1, this requires scheme to be appropriate to their site in scale 
and character and relate well to their context.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

The application site is currently occupied by a two-storey detached house, which sits on the 
western part of the plot. There is an open car port on the eastern part of the site.  The site has 
two accesses onto Moss Road.  One serving the main house and the other the carport.  

The area is characterised by detached two storey houses, with a wide range of architectural 
styles.  There is also a variety in terms of plot size.   6 Moss Road is the first of a group of four 
wider plots (6, 8, 10 and 12 Moss Road). The house to the west, 4 Moss Road has a much 
narrower frontage onto the road. Opposite the site, the plots are also narrower, this is also the 
case, further to the east of the site, from no. 14 onwards.  In all, plot widths along this part of 
Moss Road are not uniform.    

There is a reasonably clear building line along Moss Road.  While there are some examples of 
outbuildings to the front of properties, these tend to be on the wider plots. Overall, the buildings 
to the front do not materially encroach on the streetscene, or the spacious and leafy character 
to the front of plots.  

Many concerns have been raised that the proposed development would appear at odds with 
the prevailing density of development in the surrounding area and would appear cramped and 
as an overdevelopment of the site.  

Planning application 20/4003M was also refused for the following reason:

“The existing site is one of a group of plots along Moss Road, which are defined by large 
houses on spacious plots.  The spacious nature of these plots adds to the variety and 
character of Moss Road.  The proposed construction of two dwellings would result in the 
spacious and open nature of the site being lost.  This would undermine the spacious nature of 
the group as well as the variety of plots along Moss Road.  This loss of openness and variety 
would result in harm to the character and appearance of the area.  The proposal would 
conflict with Cheshire East Local Plan policies SD 2 and SE 1.”

In allowing the appeal, the Inspector noted and paragraphs 28 and 29 of their decision:

The surrounding area is characterised by dwellings extending along Moss Road on both 
sides, although beyond the fact that nearly all are detached two-storey houses there is little in 
the way of a unifying theme – houses are of a variety of ages, architectural styles, roof types, 
and materials. There is some variation in plot sizes, and while plot widths are not uniform 
most are within a similar range. The appeal site and its neighbours at Nos 6, 10 and 12 have 
wider street frontages than is typical along most of Moss Road. Buildings are, more or less, 
set to a clear line on both sides of the road, albeit with some variations. Front gardens tend to 
be smaller than those at the rear, and many are largely given over to car parking space, 

Page 39



although they are generally well-screened from the street by mature hedges and other 
planting, and this gives the street a verdant feel and contributes to its pleasant and affluent 
character.

The subdivision of the appeal site would create two plots which would be of a comparable 
width to most of those on Moss Road, including those on the north side of the road facing the 
site. The loss of the swimming pool and part of the garden area would inevitably reduce the 
amount of open space within the appeal site. However, this area is currently largely screened 
from Moss Road and public views through the site are restricted, so it makes a very limited 
contribution any rural and open character which may be perceived on this part of Moss Road 
(and which in any event, as I have explained above, does not really begin to become 
apparent until passing “Moss Hall Cottage” some way east of the appeal site).

Similar to the refused scheme, the proposal is for the subdivision of the site and the 
replacement of a single dwelling with two.  

For this current scheme, the proposed dwellings would be the same height as the existing 
house.  There would be some difference between the design and materials used for each 
dwelling, which would reflect the architectural variety found along this part of Moss Road.   
Subject to a condition relating to materials, the external appearance of the proposed dwellings 
would be acceptable.   

There are also differences between this proposal and the refused scheme at 8 Moss Road.  6 
Moss Road sits at the edge of the group of more spacious plots, with its immediate neighbour, 
4 Moss Road on a narrower plot.  As such the distinction between the more close knit form of 
development proposed and the more spacious plots would be less obvious.  

Given the width of the application site, when subdivided into two properties, the plots would not 
be dissimilar to those of the houses opposite, or that of 4 Moss Road immediately adjacent.  
The proposed plans show that there would be around 7.5m between the two properties.   There 
would be a distance of around 3m between the site and the boundary with 4 Moss Road and 
around 2m between the site and the boundary with 8 Moss Road to the east.    

It is considered that the gaps between the properties would not be inconsistent with the plot 
density found elsewhere in the streetscene.  The proposal would not appear unduly cramped 
or at odds with the surrounding density of development.   Furthermore, should the development 
at 8 Moss Road be bult out then this proposal will be viewed in that context and will sit 
comfortably in the character of the street scene. This development is therefore acceptable on 
its own merits within the existing street scene and also taking when taking into account the 
recently granted planning permission at the adjoining site.

The proposal would comply with CELPS policies SD 2 and SE 1, along with AENP policy AE2 
and the aims of NPPF chapter 12.   

Reference has been made to policy AE4, which relates to backland development and 
development in rear gardens.  The Inspector noted at the adjoining site that even if that policy 
were taken into account the proposed development would comply with it because the 

Page 40



development would be well integrated into the bult form of the surrounding area. It is considered 
that the same conclusions apply to this proposal for the reasons set out above.

Local Landscape Designation 

The application site lies within the Alderley Edge and West Macclesfield Wooded Estates - 
Local Landscape Designation.  Within this area, CELPS policy SE 4 applies.  This policy seeks 
to conserve and enhance the quality of the landscape and protect it from development, which 
is likely to have adverse effect on its character, appearance and setting.  It also states that 
where development is considered to be acceptable in principle, measures will be sought to 
integrate it into the landscape character of the area.  

The Council’s Landscape Officer has been consulted on the proposal.  They have advised that 
the proposed development would not result in a significant landscape or visual impact on the 
designated landscape.  

To ensure that the development integrates well into its surroundings, conditions are suggested 
covering boundary treatments, site levels, landscape details and implementation.  
 
Subject to these conditions, the proposal would be acceptable in landscape terms and would 
comply with CELPS policy SE 4.  

Residential Amenity 

NPPF paragraph 127f) requires developments to achieve a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users.  

Saved MBLP policy DC3 states that development should not significantly injure the amenities 
of nearby residential property due to loss of privacy, overbearing effect and loss of sunlight and 
daylight.  MBLP policy DC38 sets out the guidelines for space, light and privacy.   

4 Moss Road 

This property lies to the west of the application site.  The proposed replacement dwelling would 
be located slightly closer to the common boundary than the existing.  The remaining distance 
between the built form of the two houses would be around 7.1m.  It would also extend around 
2.8m beyond the rear of this neighbour.  

Given the distance of separation, it is not considered that the increased depth would materially 
affect the outlook or light enjoyed by the rear windows and garden of this neighbouring property.  

This neighbouring property has been recently extended (14/1225M refers).  The windows along 
the flank wall of this neighbouring property are not the sole openings serving habitable rooms. 
In any case, they already face towards the flank wall of no. 6.  As such, any impact on these 
windows would not materially affect the overall living environment of this neighbour.  

The proposed balcony adjacent to this neighbour has been omitted.  A condition is required to 
ensure the first-floor window facing this neighbour is obscure glazed and fixed shut.  Subject to 
this condition, and the removal of permitted development rights as detailed below, it is 

Page 41



considered that the proposal would have an acceptable relationship with this neighbouring 
property.  

8 Moss Road 

The proposed dwelling to the east of the site would be set off the common boundary with 8 
Moss Road by around 2m.  This dwelling has been designed so the gable runs parallel to the 
common boundary, which helps to reduce the impact of its overall height.  

This neighbour has a large side and rear garden.  It sits approximately 12m away from the 
common boundary with the application site.  While this neighbour has a ground floor window 
facing towards the application site, it is not the sole opening serving a habitable room.  In any 
case the distance of separation would limit any loss of outlook or light, resulting from the 
proposal.  

The proposal includes a number of windows along the flank wall facing this neighbour.  A 
condition is required to ensure the first-floor side windows are obscure glazed and fixed shut 
below 1.7m to prevent any issues of overlooking.  The balcony originally proposed has now 
been omitted.  

It is considered that the proposed development would have an acceptable relationship with this 
neighbour.   

Additionally, to ensure an acceptable future relationship with neighbours and between the 
properties, a condition is required removing permitted development rights for classes A, AA, B 
and E.  

Concerns have been raised regarding the relationship and any future dwellings at 8 Moss Road.  
This is a material consideration in the assessment of this application.  

None of the windows along the eastern elevation of the proposed infill plot would be the sole 
windows serving habitable rooms.  This is also the case with the closest dwelling of the appeal 
scheme at 8 Moss Road.  It is not considered that there would be any conflict between the two 
schemes.  Both the current proposal and the appeal scheme at 8 Moss Road could be built out 
without harming one another’s amenity.   

Parking and Highway Safety 

Saved MBLP policy DC6 sets out the circulation and access criteria for new developments.  
Amongst other matters, it requires new vehicular access to be safe and convenient.  It also 
requires provision for manoeuvring vehicle, servicing and parking.  CELPS Appendix C sets out 
the adopted parking standards.  In this location, houses with four or more bedrooms should 
have a minimum of three off-street parking spaces.  

The Council’s Highways Officers have been consulted on the proposal.  They have raised no 
objection to the proposed access and have noted that sufficient space would be available on 
site to provide parking in line with the above standards.  The proposal would comply with saved 
MBLP policy DC6.  

Page 42



Flood Risk 

CELPS policy SE 13 deals with Flood Risk and Water Management.  It requires all 
developments at risk of flooding to be supported by an appropriate Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA). It also requires all developments to seek improvements to the current surface water 
drainage network.  

A number of local residents have raised concerns about flooding in the surrounding area.  The 
Council’s Flood Risk Team were consulted on the proposal and initially objected, raising 
concerns that the site is located in a high surface water risk area and no drainage strategy had 
been submitted.   

Subsequent to this, the applicants have submitted a drainage strategy, which has been 
reviewed by the Flood Risk team.  They have removed their initial objection, noting that they 
have no objection in principle to the development, but further information is required regarding 
the proposed drainage solution.  They have advised that conditions are required, relating to 
ground levels and the submission of a detailed flood risk strategy.   

Subject to these conditions, it is considered that the proposal would satisfactorily comply with 
CELPS policy SE 13.  

Forestry 

CELPS policy SE 5 deals with trees, hedgerows and woodlands.  It states that where a 
development would result in threat to or loss of trees of amenity value, it will not normally be 
permitted, unless there are clear overriding reasons and no suitable alternatives.  Saved MBLP 
policy DC9 broadly reiterates the same requirements.  
There is are two protected Silver Birch trees along the road frontage (TPO reference 03-037).  
There is also a protected Willow Tree to the rear of the existing dwelling. there are also a 
number of other trees and hedgerows across the site, which are not formally protected.  

The scheme has been reviewed by the Council’s Forestry Officers.   They have advised that 
subject to the use of engineer designed surfacing, the proposed development would be unlikely 
to present any significant issues for hese protected trees along the frontage.  

The proposal would result in a 10% incursion of the root protection area (RPA) of the protected 
Willow, which lies to the rear of the site.  They have advised that the relationship between the 
protected tree and the built form of the development would not be significantly inferior to what 
presently exists but could be improved through internal layout changes to achieve a more 
sustainable relationship with the protected Willow.   

They have advised that the scheme as proposed would be broadly defensible.  With this in 
mind and subject to conditions, relating to tree protection, tree retention, service and drainage 
runs and no dig hard standing construction, it is not considered that there would be any conflict 
with CELPS policy SE 5

Nature Conservation 

Page 43



CELPS policy SE 3 deals with biodiversity and geodiversity.  It seeks to protect designated 
sites, habitats and protected species from development which would adversely affect it.  It also 
requires developments to aim to positively contribute to the conservation and enhancement of 
biodiversity and geodiversity.  

A bat survey has been included within the application.  This found no evidence of bats and 
concluded that the property is considered to offer negligible bat roost suitability.   

The submitted bat survey has been reviewed by the Council’s Nature Conservation Officer.  
They have not raised any concerns with the findings.  

They have advised that subject to conditions to protect nesting birds and include ecological 
enhancements, the development would comply with the requirements of CELPS policy SE 3.  
No ecological issues are therefore raised.  

Other matters 

Concerns have been raised regarding disruption during building works.  It is acknowledged that 
building works can be disruptive.  However, as any disturbance is likely to be temporary, they 
are not a material planning consideration.  

House values are not a planning matter and have not been considered. 

The electric vehicle charging will be included.  It is not considered that the suggested condition 
requiring the provision of ultra-low emission boilers would be necessary, reasonable or 
enforceable in this location and as such would not meet the tests set out within the NPPF and 
Planning Practice Guidance.    

CONCLUSIONS 

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing house and the construction of a replacement 
dwelling and a new dwelling in the side garden.  The site within the Green Belt, but having 
regard to relevant case law and conclusions found at Appeal on the adjoining site, it is 
considered to be in a village for the purposes of CELPS policy PG 3.  

The proposal would fall within two of the exceptions listed within CELPS policy PG 3 and NPPF 
paragraph 149.  The replacement dwelling would not be materially larger than the one it would 
replace, and the new dwelling would be limited infilling within a village. The proposed 
development would not be inappropriate within the Green Belt.  

Given the varied character of the area and surrounding properties, it is considered that subject 
to conditions, there would be no adverse impact to visual amenities and that the development 
would be well integrated into the surrounding urban form.

Subject to conditions, the proposal would comply with all relevant policies of the Development 
Plan.  In the light of section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the 
application is recommended for approval.

Page 44



RECOMMENDATION : Approve subject to the following conditions

1. Three-year time limit
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans 
3. Finished levels 
4. Drainage strategy 
5. Details of materials 
6. Tree protection 
7. Tree retention 
8. Construction of engineer designed surfaces 
9. Service drainage layout 
10.Landscaping scheme 
11. Implementation of landscaping scheme 
12.Boundary treatments 
13.Protection for nesting birds 
14.Ecological enhancements 
15.Electric Vehicle charging points 
16.Obscure glazing to first floor flank windows  
17.Removal of permitted development rights – class A, AA, B and E 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning (Regulation) has 
delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Northern Planning 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

Page 45



P
age 46


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	5 20/1970M-Full planning application for residential development (Use Class C3) with associated infrastructure, landscaping and access, Walled Garden and Kitchen Garden, Alderley Park, Congleton Road Nether Alderley for Jones Homes (North West) Limited and Alderley Park Limited
	6 20/5021M-Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of a single replacement dwelling and a detached infill dwelling with associated works, Beechwood, 6, Moss Road, Alderley Edge for Mr & Mrs Robinson

